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May 7, 2024  

Mark Langer 

Clerk of the Court 

U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit 

333 Constitution Avenue, NW 

Washington, DC  20001 
 

Re: Iowaska Church of Healing v. Werfel, No. 23-5122  

(argued March 11, 2024) 

 

Plaintiff-appellant Iowaska Church of Healing (“ICH”) submits this letter 

under F.R.A.P. 28(j) to advise the Court of the settlement agreement, dated April 

11, 2024, in Church of the Eagle and the Condor v. Garland, No. 22-cv-01004-

SRB (D. Ariz.) (Exhibit A).  The Church of the Eagle and the Condor (“CEC”) 

case was addressed in ICH’s opening brief at 25 n.6. 

CEC is an ayahuasca church, like ICH.  Based on the discussion of CEC’s 

practices and procedures in the CEC settlement, there are no differences between 

CEC and ICH that could plausibly be material under the Controlled Substances Act 

(“CSA”) and the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (“RFRA”).  Both churches 

seek to engage in ayahuasca tea ceremonies.  The Government has not questioned 

the sincerity of either church’s religious exercise.  
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In the CEC settlement, the Government agreed to permit CEC to practice its 

ayahuasca sacrament, and to engage in related activities including importation and 

manufacture, on a permanent basis, subject to various anti-diversion, 

documentation, health and safety, inspection and security requirements.  ICH has 

committed to similar requirements in its organizational documents and in 

representations to the Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) and the IRS, see 

generally JA 167-71, 236-65, 274-81, 299-302, 317-20, 324-26, 336, 339, and it 

recently reiterated that commitment to the DEA, while offering to match its 

procedures more closely to those specified in the CEC settlement.  (See Exhibit B.)  

The CEC settlement must be presumed to represent the Government’s view 

of the public policy enshrined in the CSA and RFRA in this context.  There is no 

permissible basis under RFRA for the Government to discriminate against ICH by 

treating its ayahuasca sacrament as illegal, and it would be irrational to penalize 

ICH because it followed the DEA’s preferred approach (see JA 322) of applying 

for a CSA exemption instead of suing under RFRA.  Further, the Government’s 

settlement with CEC (which never applied for such an exemption) confirms that, 

contrary to the district court’s view, the application of RFRA to determine the  
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legality of and the public policy applicable to the ayahuasca sacrament need not 

await a DEA ruling on such an application. 

Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ Simon A. Steel 

       Simon A. Steel 

       Dentons US LLP 

       1900 K Street, NW 

       Washington DC 20006 

       (202) 496-7077 

simon.steel@dentons.com 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellant 

Iowaska Church of Healing 
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 

 I hereby certify that the foregoing letter complies with F.R.A.P. 28(j), in that 

the body of the letter contains precisely 350 words. 

 

/s/ Simon A. Steel 

       Simon A. Steel 

       Dentons US LLP 

       1900 K Street, NW 

       Washington DC 20006 

       (202) 496-7077 

       simon.steel@dentons.com 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellant 

Iowaska Church of Healing 
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EXHIBIT A: CEC Settlement (April 12, 2024) 
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EXHIBIT B: ICH Letter to DEA (May 1, 2024)   
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on May 7, 2024, I electronically filed the foregoing 

F.R.A.P. 28(j) letter with attachments with the Clerk of the United States Court of 

Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit using the CM/ECF system, which will 

automatically generate and serve notices of this filing to all counsel of record. I 

further certify that there are no parties who will not receive such notice. 

Dated: May 7, 2024 /s/ Simon A. Steel 

Simon A. Steel 

Dentons US LLP 

1900 K Street, NW 

Washington, DC 20006 

(202) 496-7077 

simon.steel@dentons.com 
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U.S. Department of Justice 
 

Tax Division 
 

Please reply to: Appellate Section 

Facsimile No. (202) 514-8456      P.O. Box 502 
Telephone No. (202) 514-3361      Washington, D.C. 20044 

 

 

DAH:FMU:JEC:KLyon 
5-16-5159 
CMN2021101175 May 10, 2024 
 
Mark Langer, Clerk 
United States Court of Appeals 
   for the District of Columbia Circuit 
E. Barrett Prettyman U.S. Courthouse and 
    William B. Bryant Annex 
333 Constitution Ave., NW  
Washington, DC 20001 
 
  Re:  Iowaska Church of Healing v. Werfel, et al. 
         (D.C. Cir. – 23-5122) 
 
Dear Mr. Langer: 
 

This letter responds to appellant Iowaska Church of Healing’s Rule 
28(j) letter dated May 7, 2024, attaching a purported settlement document in 
Church of the Eagle and the Condor v. Garland, et al., 22-cv-01004-SRB (D. 
Ariz.).  The settlement document is inappropriate for a Rule 28(j) submission 
and should be disregarded in its entirety.  The document is not new 
authority, and “Rule 28(j) is not a procedure for supplementing the record on 
appeal.”  Meeks v. United States, 742 F.3d 841, 844 (8th Cir. 2014); accord 
Keith v. Koerner, 707 F.3d 1185, 1190 (10th Cir. 2013); DiBella v. Hopkins, 
403 F.3d 102, 108 (2d Cir. 2005).  Regardless, Church of the Eagle and the 
Condor does not involve a request for tax-exempt status under § 501(c)(3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code and is therefore irrelevant to the resolution of this 
case in any event. 
 

     Sincerely, 
 
     /s/ Kathleen E. Lyon 
     KATHLEEN E. LYON 
     Attorney 
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